
   

City Council Meeting March 12, 2007 
1 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, MARCH 12, 2007 6:00  P.M. 
CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

405 N. PASEO DE OÑATE, ESPAÑOLA, NEW MEXICO 
 
 
The meeting was called to order at 6:01 p.m. with the following present: 
 
Mayor:     Joseph M. Maestas 
Mayor Pro Tem:   Alice Lucero 
Councilors:    Rosario “Chayo” Garcia 
     Alfred Herrera 
     Danielle Duran  
     Cecilia Lujan (absent) 
     Dennis Tim Salazar 
     Helen Kain-Salazar 
     Eddie Maestas  
 
City Manager:    Gustavo “Gus” Cordova 
 
City Clerk’s Office:   Veronica Martinez 
      
City Attorney:    Angela “Spence” Pacheco 
 
Staff:     Josie Lujan   Ivan Guillen 

Richard Marquez Russell Naranjo   
   Judge Salazar  Cyrus Samii 

     Christian Lopez Julian Gonzales 
     Susan Trujillo 
 
Mayor Maestas led the Pledge of Allegiance and Mayor Pro Tem Lucero led the invocation. 
 

Approval of Agenda 
 
Mayor Maestas presented the agenda for approval: 
 

CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE, AND INVOCATION 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

1. January 16, 2007 [Mayor Maestas] 
2. February 12, 2007 [Mayor Maestas] 

PROCLAMATIONS AND AWARDS OF MERIT 
3. Employee of the Month [Mayor Maestas] 
4. Proclamation In Honor of the Española Sundevils Basketball Team [Mayor Maestas] 
5. Proclamation In Honor of the McCurdy Lady Bobcats Basketball Team [Mayor Maestas} 
6. Proclamation Declaring March 24 –March 30 “Drug Free Week” in Española [Mayor Maestas] 

BUSINESS WITH VISITORS 
7. Local Government Division Approval of FY06-07 Budget – Presentation of Approval Letter [John 

Gallegos and Isaac Montoya] 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
8. Ordinance 2007-01 – Annexation of property located at 1413 Tesuque Drive, Española, NM 

requested by Ms. Shannon Maestas [Russell Naranjo] 
9. Ordinance 2007-02 – The Española Ethics Ordinance [City Attorney Angela Pacheco] 

PUBLIC COMMENTS  
COUNCILOR COMMENTS 
MATTERS FROM THE MAYOR 
ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION  

10. Status Report from Code Enforcement regarding Ordinance 2006-11, The Española Smoking 
Ordinance [Russell Naranjo] 

11. Fiesta Council Update [Josie Lujan] 
12. Annexation Impact Report [Cyrus Samii] 
13. Adopting Governing Body Rules of Procedure [Veronica Martinez] 
14. Discussion of Preferred Alternative for the Española Relief Route Study [Gus Cordova] 

MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER 
15. Legislation Update [Gus Cordova] 
16. Plan of Action for Outstanding Appropriations [Gus Cordova] 
A. * Authorization for Staff to Evaluate Facility Needs [Gus Cordova] 



   

City Council Meeting March 12, 2007 
2 

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION OF APPROVAL  
17. Memorandum of Agreement between the City of Española and North Central Regional Transit 

District [Ivan Guillen]  
18. Award of Invitation for Bids 07-01, Electronic Message Center for the Plaza de Española [Ivan 

Guillen] 
19. Performance Bond for Closure of Pumice Mine [Cyrus Samii] 
20. Request for Out of State Travel for City Clerk to Attend the International Institute of Municipal 

Clerks Conference in New Orleans, LA in May 2007 [Veronica Martinez] 

RESOLUTIONS 
21. Resolution 2007-14 - Open Meetings Resolution [Veronica Martinez] 
22. Resolution 2007-15 – A Resolution Authorizing the Destruction of Public Records [Veronica 

Martinez] 
23. Resolution 2007-16 - Resolution Granting Signatory Authority for SAP 04-1460-STB [Gus 

Cordova] 

COMMITTEE REPORTS 
24.  Public Works – [Mayor Pro Tem Lucero] 
25.  Community Development [Councilor Durán] 
26.  Public Safety [Councilor Salazar] 
27.  Public Housing Update [Councilor Maestas] 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 
ADJOURNMENT 

 
* These items were added to or amended on the agenda after final agenda was developed. 
 
 

Mayor Pro Tem Lucero made a motion for a change to allow the legislative lobbyist Mr. 
Paez, to give an update when he arrives. Councilor Herrera asked to remove item 17, as 
well as holding item 6 until Father Brennan is present. Councilor Kain-Salazar seconded 
the motion. 
 
Motion passed 7/0. 
 

Approval of Minutes 
 
Minutes of January 16, 2007 were presented.  

Mayor Pro Tem Lucero made a motion to approve minutes of January 16, 2007 as 
amended, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Lucero. 
 
Motion passed 7/0. 
 
Minutes of February 12, 2007 were presented. 
  

Councilor Salazar made a motion to approve, seconded by Councilor Herrera.  
 
Motion passed 7/0. 
 

Proclamations and Awards of Merit 
 
Awards of Merit; 
 
Mayor Maestas asked Councilor Salazar and Chief Julian Gonzales to join him as he presented 
the Employee of the Month for February 2007 to Trinnie Velasques. Chief Gonzales stated that 
Trinnie is an employee of the Criminal Investigative Secretary.  Ms. Velasquez thanked the 
Director and Christian Lopez for being good bosses. 
 

Proclamation in Honor of the Española Sundevils Basketball Team; 
 
Mayor Maestas spoke of the accomplishments of the student athletes who represented the 
community so well.  Mayor Maestas introduced Dr. Cockerham, School Board Director. Dr. 
Cockerham stated that they were very proud of the boys and the fans, as they really went all out 
with their support of the team. Mr. Andrew Chavez newly elected School Board Chair, presented 
the proclamation to the team. 
 
Mr. Chavez thanked the Governing Body and stated that the students brought pride to Española. 
 



   

City Council Meeting March 12, 2007 
3 

Councilor Kain-Salazar stated that she was very proud to be there and proud of the team.  Mayor 
Pro Tem Lucero congratulated everyone, especially Coach Martinez.  Councilor Salazar gave his 
congratulations as well. 
 

Proclamation in Honor of the McCurdy Lady Bobcats Basketball Team; 
 
Mayor Maestas read the proclamation in honor of the McCurdy Lady Bobcats basketball team.   
 

Business with Visitors 
 

Local Government Division Approval of budget: 
 
Gus Cordova stated that there had been a scheduling conflict and that the DFA representatives 
would like to bring it to the March 26, 2007 Finance Board meeting. 
 

Public Hearings 
 

Ordinance 2007-01 – Annexation of Tesuque Drive; 
 
Mayor Maestas opened the public hearing at 6:20 p.m. and asked citizens for input.  Ms. 
Rhonda Berger, a resident of Tesuque Drive, spoke in opposition of the annexation, due to the 
prospect of Tesuque Drive being a “corridor” for annexation of the El Llano area. The residents 
were in majority in their opposition to this annexation. Ms. Berger provided copies of the 
subdivision covenants to the Governing Body.  Ms. Berger read the purpose of the covenants 
under “declarations.”  She stated that she did not feel the annexation was for the benefit of all of 
the residents, and only would allow Ms. Maestas to save money on utilities, but would provide 
no benefit to the rest of the residents. Ms. Berger stated that the covenants should not be ignored, 
but upheld and enforced.  The covenants were not filed, but the annexation is in conflict with the 
covenants. Ms. Berger referenced State Statute 3.7.17 –A (1) NMSA 1978. She then presented a 
petition by the Tesuque residents in opposition, including one anonymous resident represented 
by a notarized statement by Rhonda Berger, as well as a hearsay exceptions rule.  She explained 
her application of the exception including her statement.  She referred to Marjorie Trujillo, who 
cannot sign a petition, but is also in opposition. She stated that out of 22 residents 18 are in 
opposition equating to 82% not in favor of annexation. Ms. Berger provided a list of the residents 
on Tesuque Drive, and noted those who do not approve. Ms. Berger stated that all residents have 
been there for many years and a stranger who is moving into their neighborhood was coming in 
to change things. Ms. Berger further stated that many of Tesuque Drive residents were on a fixed 
income and that having to connect to sewer and water would increase their expenses as well as 
the property value and therefore their taxes. Ms. Berger stated that she did not believe that the 
needs of the one should outweigh the needs of the many. 
 
Mayor Maestas opened the floor to the Governing Body to ask questions of Ms. Berger or staff at 
this point.  The Governing Body opted to continue.  Mayor Maestas asked for opponents to 
speak. Dolores Trujillo spoke in opposition of the annexation; her property is adjacent East to 
Ms. Maestas. Ms. Trujillo stated that her intentions were not to be bad neighbors but that she did 
not want fragmentations of county and city boundaries that could cause confusion for emergency 
services. Ms. Trujillo stated that they were looking out for the rest of the neighbors. Ms. Trujillo 
stated her neighbor on the other side of her stated that he did not want to be in city limits also.  
Ms. Trujillo stated that she felt the situation was causing friction in the neighborhood and wanted 
it to stay the way is currently was. 
 
Richard Dricksacker resident of 1732 Tesuque Drive, spoke how he felt about the annexation, 
stating he liked things the way they are. Mr. Dricksacker stated that he thought the neighbors 
should all be together and that he felt bad that this had to come down a route like it had. Mr. 
Dricksacker stated that he does not want to be annexed for sure, and doesn’t want it to become 
like a civil war. 
 
Brian Thompson another resident who lives up the road, stated that he chose the area because of 
the rural feel to the area, the variety, and the type of lifestyle they have. 
 
Ms Shannon Maestas, the petitioner, a resident of Tesuque Drive has requested approval. Ms. 
Maestas stated that she had currently been using City utilities since January without a problem. 
Ms. Maestas further stated that the street borders city and county boundaries and because of this 



   

City Council Meeting March 12, 2007 
4 

she does incur double fees, stating that she and would like to have just one fee. Ms. Maestas 
stated that since she is receiving City services and none from the county, her property should be 
part of the city. Ms. Maestas stated that she also was not trying to be a bad neighbor and did not 
want to affect anyone else’s property. Ms. Maestas stated that a Planning and Zoning 
representative stated that her annexation would not affect any other properties. Ms. Maestas 
stated that she had been told that the city had a plan of action for annexation in the area, and 
wants the neighbors to make the decision for themselves when the time comes. Ms. Maestas 
provided a petition in favor of the annexation.  Ms. Berger stated that Ms. Maestas was a stranger 
to the community, but she was born and raised here, and went to school here. Ms. Maestas stated 
that she did not want to cause friction and doesn’t want to have to go through all of this just to 
get her house in the City limits. Ms. Maestas stated that she has had dealt with this for 1 ½ years. 
Ms. Maestas’ father, Charlie Maestas, spoke on behalf of Ms. Maestas; he stated that there did 
not seem to be a lot of friction when they went to see the neighbors concerning the issue.  Mr. 
Maestas stated that Ms. Berger claimed that there were 18 out of 22 people, but only 4 people 
spoke in opposition. Mr. Maestas stated the he did not know where the others were. 
 
Emilio Randall, a resident of Tesuque Drive, stated he had been a resident longer than all of 
those present. Mr. Randall stated that the Bergers and the owners do not make the majority of the 
land, stating that the Meyers still own most of it. Mr. Randall stated that one part of the 
subdivision is already in the city. Mr. Randall stated that he thinks that the other residents are 
confused that the City was trying to annex the whole area, not just Ms. Maestas’ property. Mr. 
Randall stated that he has lived there longer than all others and did not see how annexation 
would affect their property or change any of their lifestyles.   
 
Priscilla Valdez, a resident whose property has already been annexed, spoke in favor of 
annexation. 
 
Lillian Marquez stated that she did not have a problem with annexation either.  
 
Stella Randall spoke, stating that Ms. Berger was just using a scare tactic, and that annexation 
was not going to affect anyone adversely. Mrs. Randall stated that everybody should just mind 
their own business further stating that if residents don’t want to be annexed it would not affect 
them. Mrs. Randall stated that the City is already hodgepodge and this will not change anything. 
 
Ms. Clara Trujillo, Ms. Maestas’ aunt, who resides at 1014 Tesuque Court, spoke in favor of the 
annexation; stating that annexation was Ms. Maestas’ call, not her neighbors.   Ms. Trujillo asked 
the Governing Body for approval.  Ms. Randall sated that their property was the first that was 
that was subdivided and sold, and that most is still vacant. Ms. Randall stated that with the 
annexation issue, the property has been difficult for Ms. Trujillo to sell. 
 

Public hearing closed at 6:50 p.m. 
 
Russell Naranjo, the City’s representative from Planning and Zoning, presented the Ordinance to 
the Governing Body for consideration. Mr. Naranjo was consulted for staff explanation. 
 
Mr. Naranjo stated that within State Statute, the application meets the test for annexation. He 
also stated that the issue went to the Development Review Team for review of the feasibility to 
serve the property and was sent to P&Z for approval. Mr. Naranjo stated that at Planning and 
Zoning Committee discussion was heard and was voted on by Planning and Zoning for approval 
to send to Council. 
 
Mr. Naranjo stated that Ms. Maestas is connected to city services currently and is paying double 
rates, and Ms. Maestas is within her rights to request annexation. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Lucero asked if Ms. Maestas complied with §3.7.17, gaining the majority of the 
signatures of property owners. Mr. Naranjo stated that the section refers to block annexation and 
not to single-property owner annexation. 
 

Councilor Herrera moved to approve, seconded by Councilor Maestas; 
 

Roll call vote: 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Lucero, for the motion 



   

City Council Meeting March 12, 2007 
5 

Councilor Kain-Salazar, for the motion 
Councilor Garcia, for the motion 
Councilor Maestas, for the motion 
Councilor Salazar, for the motion 
Councilor Duran, for the motion 
Councilor Herrera, for the motion 
 
Motion passed 7/0. 
 

 
Matters of the City Manager 
 

Legislation Update: 
 
Bryon Paez presented on the City’s Legislative request and provided a handout outline to 
council. 
 
Mayor Maestas stated that there was a split between two counties, asking Mr. Paez if there was 
any Santa Fe County information.  Mr. Paez stated that he would provide that information to the 
Mayor. Mayor Pro Tem Lucero asked about the Industrial Park Road project. Mayor Maestas 
reminded Mayor Pro Tem Lucero that it is a GRIP II project.  Mr. Paez stated that since the 
GRIP I projects were about $50M short; they will decide what monies will be allocated to GRIP 
II. Mr. Paez stated that so far the Bill had passed House, Senate Finance and that the Bill was far 
enough in the House but needs to be negotiated after all other money is negotiated.  Councilor 
Salazar thanked Mr. Paez for the update. 
 
Mayor Maestas stated that last that he heard, the Fiesta Council funding request was on the 
Governor’s desk and is allotted $15K. Mayor Maestas asked for the Governing Body to offer 
thanks to Representative Rodella. 
 
Councilor Herrera asked Mr. Paez when General Fund appropriations would be available. 
Mr. Paez stated that only if it were an emergency, the emergency clause would make funds 
available, otherwise Fiscal Year 08 would be available July 1, 2007. 
 

Proclamations and Awards continued 
 

Proclamation declaring Drug Free Week: 
 
Councilor Herrera asked Richard Marquez and Monica Lovato to accept the proclamation, and 
read it into the record. 
 
Father Brennan joined them. Father Brennan thanked everyone for their continued cooperation, 
stating that it brings people together for a common cause. He further stated that the pilgrimage 
was a destination of getting to a goal, to help each other during this event and to make it a 
lifelong goal of being drug free.   
 
Mayor Maestas recognized Monica Lovato and thanked her for lending her stardom to use it to 
get the word across to the youth to let them know that there is more to do in Española than the 
typical.  Ms. Lovato stated that she was able to work with the kids through the Lucero Center as 
well as now on the Youth Council. Ms. Lovato thanked Father Brennan, Mayor Maestas, Richard 
Marques, the Governing Body, and the community. 
  

Public Hearings continued 
 

Ordinance 2007-02; Española Ethics Ordinance: 
 
Angela Pacheco City Attorney presented this item, stating that it had come before the Governing 
Body in October of last year.  She stated that one of the issues was whether the complaint could 
remain anonymous. Ms. Pacheco stated that because an accused has a right to face his accuser, it 
would be difficult to remain anonymous. Ms. Pacheco added that the other issue was whether the 
complaint would be public record. Ms. Pacheco stated that because of the public nature of their 
offices, they were subject to open proceedings where misconduct may have occurred. 
 



   

City Council Meeting March 12, 2007 
6 

Ms. Pacheco stated that some changes of the Ordinance were made.  
Ms. Pacheco listed the changes: 
 

• Page one, service to be given to Clerk 

• Page two changes included the definition of “Governing Body” 

• Change to “A member of the GB”, rather than “An appointed…” 

• Page 4, section 8, Complaints change “any person having… 

• “City Clerk”, instead of Mayor… Mayor Pro Tem. 

• Instead of “receipt”, change to “notification”.   
 

• Added sentence: 
 
“The committee shall make a determination within 10 days of receiving the complaint whether to 
forward the complaint to the Ethics Board or dismiss the complaint for failure to substantiate a 
claim.” 
 

• “All complaints subject to the Public Record Act, as applicable.” 
 

• Page 4, Section 9, continued on Page 5, new paragraph “(c) the Board of Ethics members 
shall be appointed by the Governing Body within 60 days of the enactment of this 
ordinance.” 

 
Mayor Pro Tem Lucero asked about Section 4, disclosure, line 4: “Shall disclose within 30 days 
of official action…” Mayor Pro Tem Lucero pointed out that they don’t always have 30 days 
notice of agenda items.  Mayor Maestas stated the next sentence takes care of it, if it happens 
during discussion, as long it is 30 days before any official action is taken. Mayor Pro Tem 
Lucero suggested that the 30-day requirement be stricken and stay with “The member at the time 
of discussion…”  
 
Mayor Maestas explained the purpose of having the time clocks in the ordinance, stating that it 
would be beneficial to have the board ready and having complaints taken care of in an efficient 
matter. 
 
Councilor Herrera asked why the definition of Governing Body, stating that he wanted to hear 
more on those appointed to a board or commission. Councilor Herrera asked Ms. Pacheco if it 
was advisable, and if other municipalities had such a thing. Councilor Herrera stated that the 
original suggestion was for the Council, and stated that he wanted to hear the rationale. 
 
Ms. Pacheco stated that any board or committee is acting on behalf of the Council and there 
should be no difference. Ms. Pacheco stated that in the new Personnel policies and procedures, 
there is an ethics clause in that document as well, stating that all public employees should be held 
to the same standards. Councilor Herrera stated that the City will need a statement from all those 
already appointed to both Boards and Committees. 
 
Ms. Pacheco stated that she understood that the Governing Body would decide what would be 
appropriate. Councilor Duran stated that it did not seem appropriate that there was not a 
consequence for a conflict of interest violation. Ms. Pacheco stated that The Board of Ethics 
would recommend action to the Governing Body, as they deem appropriate. Mayor Maestas 
asked about the ex-parte rule, asking Ms. Pacheco if there were for communication restrictions 
prior to such things as Public Hearings, etc.  Councilor Duran stated that it was clear that it was 
inappropriate and members should recuse themselves and not participate in the discussion. 
 

Public Hearing opened at 9:04 p.m.  
 
Mayor Maestas asked for members of the public to speak for or against.  
Mr. Pedro Valdez spoke, he stated that they should want to hear from the constituents, that they 
are not going to make a decision right there, and that it should be okay for the constituents to talk 
to them. Mr. Valdez stated that the Governing Body should listen to them. Mr. Valdez stated that 
he was against three or four of the items. 
 
NO other members spoke. 
 

Closed at 9:05. 



   

City Council Meeting March 12, 2007 
7 

 
Mayor Pro Tem Lucero moved to approve as amended, seconded by Councilor Duran. 
 
Under discussion, in response to former Councilor Valdez’ comment, Mayor Pro Tem Lucero 
clarified that the only time they would not want constituents to approach and talk with them 
would be before a public hearing.  Councilor Duran followed up and stated that it is not only 
unethical it is against the law.   
 

Councilor Kain-Salazar stated that she was for the motion, 
Councilor Duran, for the motion 
Councilor Salazar, for the motion 
Mayor Pro Tem Lucero, for the motion 
Councilor Maestas, for the motion 
Councilor Garcia for the motion 
Councilor Herrera, for the motion 
 
Motion passed 7/0. 
 
 
Mayor Maestas stated that although it might have been painful to go through, that it was a 
historic day for the City. Mayor Maestas stated that there is now accountability for the 
Governing Body, stating that it is just as important as accountability in the administration. 
 

Public Comments 
 

 
Councilor Comments 
 
Councilor Herrera commented that he had discussed the Research and Polling issue with Brian 
Sanderhoff of Research and Polling to get an idea of where the City stands. Councilor Herrera 
stated that he was anxious to move the project forward, stating that if a Resolution were required, 
he would be happy to sponsor it. Councilor Herrera stated that if it was only a matter of the City 
Manager and staff that he still wanted to see it go forward, as people were trying to decide if they 
wanted to run at this point. Mayor Pro Tem Lucero stated that she believed that the annexation 
information was necessary before the redistricting could be addressed.  Mayor Maestas agreed 
that time was of the essence, and the erratic boundaries and utility planning were all important to 
the redistricting item. Mayor Maestas stated that he believes the city is moving toward getting a 
good discussion on the annexation issue. 
 
 

Matters of the Mayor 
 
 

Items for Discussion 
 

Status Report from Code Enforcement regarding Ordinance 2006-11, The Española 
Smoking Ordinance: 
 
Mr. Naranjo presented his report to the Council. Mr. Naranjo stated that after the adoption of the 
Smoke Free Ordinance nearly 900 businesses in and around Española were notified and provided 
with stickers and posters to post in business windows. Mr. Naranjo added that initially there was 
opposition from liquor dispensaries who claimed that there would be a loss in revenue due to the 
local casinos exemption of the ordinance. 
Mr. Naranjo stated that during the period of January 8, 2007 through January 26, 2007, Code 
Enforcement conducted a survey of businesses to answer questions and to look for posted 
notices. Mr. Naranjo added that on January 12 Code Enforcement had a Question and Answer 
session on KDCE Radio, to provide information of the new Ordinance and how to comply. Mr. 
Naranjo stated that although there is some opposition that there have also been positive 
comments from the public. Mr. Naranjo further added that State Legislation had been passed, 
and awaited the Governor’s signature, that would ban smoking in all workplaces, he stated that 
the State Legislation was very similar to the City’s Ordinance and recommended to the 
Governing Body to wait and see if the Bill would require the City to revise its current Ordinance.    
 



   

City Council Meeting March 12, 2007 
8 

Cynthia Serna spoke about the House Bill, stating that it was as stringent as the City’s. Ms. Serna 
stated that in terms of affect of the bill, state law is not preemptive, so the City’s, being more 
stringent, would probably not need amendments. Ms. Serna provided packets that included 
follow up of other communities who had implemented the No Smoking Ordinances. Ms. Serna 
added that the best way to evaluate the business impacts of the ban was to look at the GRTs of 
those affected businesses. 
 
Edward Marques of the Tropicana Lounge stated that he agreed with the ban on smoking, and 
further added that he wanted to see the casinos comply. Mr. Marques stated that the Cancer 
Society, City Council needed to pressure the casinos into compliance. Mr. Marques stated that 
his establishment would abide by the law, adding that it is unhealthy and it should be unhealthy 
in the casinos. 
 
Larry Garland stated that while the city is promoting “drug free”, they needed to continue 
making an effort for a healthy environment, adding that the City needs to work on the casinos 
compliance. 
 
Anthony Garcia of the Delta Bar stated that he has had positive feedback from both non-smokers 
and smokers, who compared it to the right to bear arms. Mr. Garcia agreed to what had been 
stated earlier that casinos needed to comply as well. Mr. Garcia added that bar employees had the 
right to not be subjected to smoke as much as anyone else. 
 

Fiesta Council Update: 
 
Josie Lujan stated that the Fiesta Council had been meeting weekly on Wednesday evenings, and 
were making progress. Ms. Lujan stated that Mr. Velarde had been asking for a budget from his 
chairs to be presented to council. Ms. Lujan stated that she would be asking for permission to 
create a fund strictly for the Fiesta Council for accountability purposes. Ms. Lujan stated that the 
council had been made aware that they must follow state procurement code. Mr. Salazar was 
present and spoke about the fundraising ideas, stating that before they begin soliciting, they want 
to make sure they meet the Governing Body’s expectations. Mr. Salazar added that the council 
was trying to involve the Governing Body and is moving forward. 
 
Councilor Garcia stated that the Fiesta council is a small group but are working hard. Councilor 
Garcia stated that she thought they have a great group and appreciates Ms. Lujan attending their 
meetings, and encouraged the Governing Body to attend their meetings. Mayor Maestas asked 
how they would ensure the council will be informed of the expenditures and plans, and how will 
they will be held accountable. Ms. Lujan reported that they would be dealing directly with her 
for all financial matters. Mayor Maestas added his thanks to Joe Salazar, stated that he had heard 
good things and to keep up the good work. 
 

Annexation Impact Report: 
 
Mr. Samii addressed the council about block annexation. Mr. Samii stated that two elements 
were being considered were both contiguity and availability to provide services. Mr. Samii 
provided a memorandum that outlined the process. Mr. Samii added that both Rio Arriba and 
Santa Fe counties would be included to annex those proposed properties as stated in the 
memorandum. Mr. Samii stated that the Public Works committee was concerned about cost since 
the city has failed to provide services to existing citizens, previously annexed. Mr. Samii asked 
to add the issue to the Public Works meeting agenda for March 20. Mr. Samii added that the map 
provided outlined the three proposed areas of annexation; El Llano “boundary smoothing” area, 
and two separate Sombrillo areas.   
 
Councilor Herrera asked how long the process would take. Mr. Samii stated that Resolutions 
have been proposed between counties and perhaps part of those would be public hearings in the 
neighborhoods and communities in those areas. Mr. Samii added that the Municipal Boundary 
Commission required one public hearing within 60 days of the application approval from the 
City, stating that more may be necessary and could be scheduled. Mr. Samii stated that a time 
frame may be determined at those meetings, depending on how many objections or questions are 
raised. Mr. Samii stated that 90 days minimum or more would be dependant on the cooperation 
of the proposed public residents.  Councilor Herrera asked if the resolution was step one. Mr. 
Samii agreed yes, adding that the next step is the Public Works Committee to discuss the 
population without current services, and how to address those before further annexations. 



   

City Council Meeting March 12, 2007 
9 

 
Mayor Maestas asked how far Molzen~Corbin and Associates were with their plan and if it was 
ready to be presented. Mr. Samii stated it was ready for presentation and Molzen~Corbin and 
Associates could give the graphic display of who is not served by what current utilities exist and 
what needs to happen to make the annexation a reality.  Mayor Maestas stated that this project 
was an opportunity to fix the erratic boundaries, have utility planning, and a plan for services for 
the proposed services areas. Mayor Maestas stated that he would like all the information on the 
table to have a clear idea for a plan.   
 

Adopting Governing Body Rules of Procedure: 
 
City Clerk Veronica Martinez asked the council for volunteers. Councilors Herrera and Duran 
volunteered as well as Mayor Pro Tem Lucero. 
 

Alternative of Relief Route Study: 
 
City Manager Gus Cordova stated that he was not prepared to discuss this matter, and wanted to 
be up to date before he came back to council. 
 
Mayor Maestas suggested that the council take a position since there had not been any action 
taken. Mayor Maestas stated that he was concerned with the slow pace of the study and asked 
council to weigh in on the issue. Mayor Maestas stated that perhaps the discussion should take 
place in the Public Works Committee to revisit the recommendations, funding issues, original 
GRIP project, and now back to square one to relieve the traffic volume on Riverside Drive. 
Councilor Duran asked if it would be all right to plan for the April meeting of the Public Works 
Committee. Mayor Pro Tem Lucero agreed that it should be okay by then and would give Mr. 
Cordova time to get up to speed. Mr. Cordova agreed to bring it for resolution in April. 
 
City Manager Gus Cordova provided a report based on the request at the last meeting, and 
solicited for questions on each item. Councilor Herrera thanked Mr. Cordova for the information 
and stated he would add these to his calendar to keep on top of them. Councilor Herrera also 
stated that the reauthorization items needed to be considered.  Mayor Maestas clarified that the 
second amendments to the reauthorizations went through. Councilor Herrera stated that he 
wanted to see the projects move along. Councilor Herrera asked if the Beautification project 
could share the architect for the Housing project.   
 
Mayor Maestas asked of the status of the $40K 2002 Appropriation for water rights.  Marvin 
Martinez spoke about it, stating that he would look further into it.  Mayor Maestas stated that an 
audit finding was that different departments were responsible for Grants versus a centralized 
tracking system. City Manager Gus Cordova clarified that the finding was on the accounting of 
the reimbursements of grant monies.  
 

Matters from the City Manager 
 
Authorization for Staff to Evaluate Facility Needs: 
 
Gus Cordova stated that he wanted staff to evaluate and prioritize building use, improvements, 
with an emphasis of E-911, PD, and Transit, looking to a centralized location.  Mr. Cordova 
added that he wanted to evaluate the vacant building (formerly PD and detention), create a 
master plan for the long term.  Mr. Cordova stated that it was his recommendation that that 
facility should look to the needs of the Police and Detention departments to reduce risk and 
liability. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Lucero stated that the City should look at those properties that could be sold. 
Gus Cordova stated that he would and will look at all courses of action.  Councilor Duran stated 
that the Community Development Committee would be looking at the policy for municipal land 
to determine whether the City should lend out or rent out the properties, policy of that sort. 
Mayor Maestas suggested that the committee consider both facilities and land management. 
Councilor Duran asked what the timeframe would be. Gus Cordova stated that he had already 
been working on looking into alternatives with DPS Director and other entities. 
 
Mayor Maestas stated that when a timeline is developed, there needed to be some input about the 
Governing Body’s policy including the new city hall request, and regional detention facility. 



   

City Council Meeting March 12, 2007 
10 

Mayor Maestas stated that the Governing Body should reconsider its priorities to give staff better 
direction. City Manager Gus Cordova stated it would not preclude any new facilities, adding he 
was looking at the immediate needs to house the PD and prisoner holding cells. Mayor Maestas 
asked the Governing Body if anyone had a specific recommendation to entertain a motion. 

 
Mayor Pro Tem Lucero moved to authorize staff to evaluate facility needs and property 
needs within the city, seconded by Councilor Garcia.   
 
Under discussion, Councilor Herrera asked about the process involved and suggested that the 
Public Safety Committee needed to be part of the discussion, adding that staff should work 
through the committees. 
 

Motion passed 7/0.  
 
Items fro Consideration of Approval 
 
Award of Bid: 
 
Ivan Guillen presented this agenda item.  He provided a rendering of the proposed plaza sign. 
Mr. Guillen stated that the sign had gone to bid, and that there were two bids received, one of 
which did not meet the required specifications. Mr. Guillen stated that he was requesting an 
award of bid to Sing Art of NM in the amount of $45,869. 
 

Mayor Pro Tem Lucero moved to award the bid to Sign Art in the amount of $45,869, 
seconded by Councilor Garcia and Councilor Duran.  
 
Councilor Herrera asked how the sign would be updated. Mr. Guillen replied, remotely.  
Councilor Herrera asked if he had run the bid by Bernadine. Mr. Guillen stated he had indeed. 
Councilor Herrera asked if it had been done within procurement codes, stating that a Bid 
summary had not been provided. Mayor Maestas asked if the bid process was followed correctly.  
Ivan Guillen, Cyrus Samii and Leroy Garcia were present at the bid opening. Mr. Guillen stated 
that the grant is by reimbursement. 
 

Motion passed 7/0. 
 

Performance Bond for Closure of Pumice Mine: 
 
Cyrus Samii reported that the City was in the stages of the final steps of closing the mine, adding 
that a performance bond is being required in the amount of $78,000 for reclamation of the mine. 
Mr. Samii stated that the intention is to make it a wildlife habitat, moving earth to grade the pits 
and revegetate the area. Mr. Samii stated that the cost for a performance bond is $20.00-$30.00 
per thousand dollars. Mayor Maestas asked what were the advantages. Mr. Samii stated that the 
City would have to be permitted for any activity there, adding that there had been much 
discussion of what it should be, but nothing has ever been determined. Mr. Samii stated that the 
least impact was the wildlife habitat option. 
 

Councilor Herrera made a motion to approve obtaining a performance bond in the amount 
of $78,000, seconded by Councilor Maestas. 
 
Motion passed 7/0. 
 
Request for Out of State Travel for City Clerk to Attend the International Institute of 
Municipal Clerks Conference in New Orleans, LA in May 2007: 
 

Mayor Pro Tem Lucero made a motion to approve the out of state travel for City Clerk 
Veronica Martinez, seconded by Councilor Kain-Salazar. 
 
Motion passed 7/0. 
 

Resolutions 
 
Resolution 2007-14 - Open Meetings Resolution: 
 



   

City Council Meeting March 12, 2007 
11 

Councilor Duran made a motion for approval of Resolution 2007-14, seconded by Mayor 
Pro Tem Lucero.   
 
Councilor Herrera stated that a point of reference listed in paragraph one of the resolution 
required a correction to the citation of state statute. 
 

Motion passed7/0. 
 

Resolution 2007-15 – A Resolution Authorizing the Destruction of Public Records: 
 
Councilor Salazar made a motion to approve Resolution 2007-15, seconded by Councilor 
Duran. 
 
Motion passed 7/0. 
 

Resolution 2007-16 – Resolution Granting Signatory Authority for SAP 04-1460-STB: 
 
City Manager Gus Cordova stated that he did not have signatory authority for the City and 
requested Councils approval of the Resolution giving him such. 
 

Mayor Pro Tem Lucero moved to approve Resolution 2007-16, seconded by Councilor 
Salazar and Councilor Kain-Salazar.   
 
Councilor Herrera asked if the Council could do a blanket authority. City Manager Gus Cordova 
stated that the council could but that may not want to accept all grants and should consider each 
grant. 
 

Motion passed 7/0. 
 

Committee Reports 
 

Public Works: 
Mayor Pro Tem Lucero announced the Public Works Meeting schedules. 
 

Community Development: 
Councilor Duran stated that Community Development meetings would occur on Thursday. 
 

Public Safety: 
Councilor Salazar announced that the Public Safety Committee was rescheduled to March 22, 
2007. 
 

Housing Committee: 
Councilor Maestas stated that the Housing Authority had reduced its vacancy rate, and had 
adopted by-laws on February 7. Councilor Maestas stated that Housing had resurrected the self-
sufficiency program, and was in the process of establishing a beautification program as well. 
 

Councilor Kain-Salazar made a motion to adjourn, seconded by Councilor Duran. 
 
Motion Passed 7/0. 
 

Adjourned at 9:39 p.m. 
 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 9th day of April 2007. 
 
 

   Electronic Copy – Signatures on File 


